STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 17 2019

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-001498
Lower Court Case No. 2015-CP-42-0996

JAMES BENJAMIN IRBY, #352507,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JEREMY A. THOMPSON
Attorney and Counselor at Law

Law Office of Jeremy A. Thompson, LLC
P.O. Box 1834
Irmo, SC 29063
(803) 779-2555
(803) 753-9732 FAX

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTION PRESENTED

I.

Whether the PCR court erred in concluding that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to utilize the services of a false confession expert, with whom defense counsel had consulted, at trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner, James Benjamin Irby, was charged in Spartanburg County for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. On November 18-19, 2012, the Petitioner proceeded to trial on this charge. The Petitioner was represented at this proceeding by Christopher Brough, Esquire. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found the Petitioner guilty as charged. The Honorable J. Derham Cole, presiding circuit judge, sentenced the Petitioner to eighteen years' imprisonment.

The Petitioner timely appealed his conviction and sentence to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. He was represented on appeal by Robert Michael Dudek, Chief Appellate Defender. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Irby, 2015-UP-021 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 14, 2015). The Petitioner did not pursue a further appeal in this Court.

On March 9, 2015, the Petitioner filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief with the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on November 16-17, 2017, before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., presiding circuit judge. On June 4, 2018, the PCR court filed an Order of Dismissal which denied relief on all of the Petitioner's claims.

The Petitioner filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, motion to alter or amend the Order of Dismissal on June 12, 2018. On June 25, 2018, the PCR court filed an Order Denying Applicant's Motion to Alter or Amend. The Petitioner served his Notice of Appeal from both of the PCR court's orders on August 5, 2018, with counsel noting that she had not received the order denying the Rule 59(e) motion until July 16, 2018.

Notice of appeal was timely served and filed. The Petitioner now seeks a writ of certiorari.

STATEMENT OF FACTS ADDUCED AT TRIAL

The Petitioner and the victim's mother Danette Lillian Collins were married and lived together with Collins' three children: the victim, a preteen daughter; a five-year-old daughter; and a seventeen-year-old son.¹ The allegations in this case arose out of the victim's assertion that the Petitioner sexually assaulted her in various ways for a period of approximately eighteen months. Specifically, at trial, the victim testified that the Petitioner digitally penetrated her on one occasion. App. p. 152, lines 1-13. She further testified that the Petitioner would come into her room where she slept with her sister, take off her clothes, and touch her legs. App. p. 153, line 6-p. 154, line 7. The final assault occurred in November 2007 when the Petitioner came into her room, pulled her clothing off, and had sexual intercourse with her. App. p. 155, lines 6-25. The victim called her aunt in the days following the final assault and was removed from the home the next week. App. pp. 156-157.

The Petitioner was interviewed on numerous occasions by various investigators. He was first interviewed on November 14, 2007, by Brenda Sparks Izarra, a child abuse investigator for the Department of Social Services, who testified that the Petitioner denied the allegations. App. pp. 173-175. Instead, the Petitioner stated that the victim's allegations arose out of a dispute with the victim, who was upset about potentially losing the opportunity to go on a field trip with school. App. pp. 174-175.

The Petitioner was further interviewed on December 5, 2007, by Detective Tanya Aldridge of the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office. During that interview, the Petitioner wrote a statement and denied the victim's allegations. App. pp. 184-185. He did, however, mention that the victim

¹ Out of an abundance of caution, the victim's siblings names have been redacted as well from the record. Her brother is referred to as "Minor 4" and her sister is referred to as "Minor 5."

had asked him to “smell her cookies,” which he took to mean a euphemism for a sexual interaction. App. pp. 186-187.

The Petitioner was next interviewed by Detective Danny Morgan, also on December 5, 2007, following a polygraph examination conducted by Detective Morgan. During the course of this interview, the Petitioner admitted to the following sexual interactions with the victim:

- On one occasion, he had fallen asleep on the couch and awoke to find the victim performing oral sex on him; App. p. 225, lines 2-19;
- On another occasion, he had also fallen asleep on the couch while naked and had awoken to find the victim engaging in sexual intercourse with him; App. p. 226, lines 2-14; and
- On a final occasion, the victim had asked him in the summer of 2007 if she wanted him to perform oral sex on him, which he allowed to occur for a couple of minutes before he stopped it; App. p. 239, lines 2-15.

Prior to the Petitioner making the first disclosure, Detective Morgan told the Petitioner: (1) that he had failed the polygraph examination (App. p. 904);² (2) that he didn’t want the Petitioner to be thrown to the wolves over the allegation (App. p. 915); and (3) that the Petitioner had engaged in sexual contact with the victim (App. p. 916). See also App. p. 248, lines 1-21 (testimony of Detective Morgan admitting to the second and third statements to the Petitioner). Prior to the Petitioner making the second disclosure, Detective Morgan told the Petitioner that he knew of an individual who refused to admit what he had done initially and then had received a sixty-year sentence. App. p. 923. The total amount of time Detective Morgan spent with the Petitioner came to approximately six hours. App. p. 242, line 22-p. 243, line 16.

² A rough transcript of Detective Morgan’s interrogation of the Petitioner was admitted as an exhibit at the PCR hearing, and is contained in the Appendix at pp. 836-976.

The prosecution's case rested on the victim's testimony, the Petitioner's statements to Detective Morgan, and the witnesses who testified that the victim had disclosed sexual abuse to them. See App. p. 165, lines 1-15 (testimony of the victim's aunt Jennifer Turner); p. 169, line 17-p. 170, line 6 (testimony of Izarra); p. 202, line 24-p. 203, line 12 (testimony of forensic evaluator Lynn McMillian); p. 212, line 12-p. 213, line 5 (testimony of Dr. Nancy Henderson). The Petitioner testified in his own defense that he did not engage in sexual contact with the victim. App. p. 274, lines 14-20. The Petitioner also presented the testimony of Collins, his wife, who testified that the victim had disclosed abuse to her, see App. p. 266, line 17-p. 267, line 3; p. 270, lines 4-9, but also that the victim had stated three times, while with a therapist, that nothing occurred between the victim and the Petitioner. App. p. 264, line 18-p. 265, line 24. There was no forensic evidence that the Petitioner committed the assaults.

Following the charge to the jury, the jury requested that they be permitted to rehear the Petitioner's testimony. App. p. 346, lines 2-6. Approximately twelve minutes after they reheard the testimony, they returned a guilty verdict. App. p. 346, lines 10-21.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee every criminal defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In order to prove a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the moving party must show that defense counsel (1) failed to provide him with reasonable professional assistance of counsel under the prevailing standards for attorneys representing clients in criminal matters; and (2) that he was prejudiced by the errors and omissions of counsel such that he was deprived of a fair trial. Id. In other words, the petitioning party must show that but for counsel's errors and omissions, there is a reasonable probability that the result at trial would have been different. Id.

On appeal, a PCR court's factual findings will be upheld if there is any evidence of probative value supporting them. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 155, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A PCR court's legal findings are afforded no deference and questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-840 (2018). "The appellate court will reverse the PCR court only where there is either no probative evidence to support the decision or the decision was controlled by an error of law." Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 455, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011).

I. The PCR court erred in concluding that defense counsel was not ineffective for failing to call an expert witness in false confessions at trial.

A. How the Issue Arose Below

In a pretrial hearing held January 29, 2011, the Petitioner moved to suppress his statements given to Detective Morgan. The crux of the Petitioner's argument was that

[W]e have implied promises that are made that Mr. Irby needs to come forward or he was going to be thrown to the wolves, that if he makes the choice this way versus that way, if he goes this way, you know, and he tells everything all at once he might be dealt with impliedly better and less harshly, because given Detective Morgan's experience people that he had dealt with in the past that didn't come forward and had to have it dragged out of them received the maximum sentence.

And I think that when you look at that case you can see that there was a threat that was made here.

App. p. 95, lines 4-14. However, during that hearing, defense counsel did not call an expert witness on false confessions. Defense counsel did not call such an expert witness during trial either. At the outset of trial, the trial judge denied the motion without further explanation. App. p. 104, lines 3-9.

In his Amendment to Application for Post-Conviction Relief, the Petitioner alleged that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to utilize a false confession expert "at the suppression and trial stages." App. p. 446. In support of that allegation, the Petitioner called Dr. Richard Leo, an expert in police interrogations, psychological coercion, and false confessions, at his PCR hearing. Dr. Leo testified that he had been consulted by defense counsel long before trial and that it was his opinion that he had several concerns about the method of interrogation utilized by Detective Morgan. App. p. 629, lines 1-9. He was specifically concerned that: (1) the interrogation was presumptive and accusatory; (2) that Detective Morgan had utilized interrogative techniques that are known to increase the risk of false confessions; (3) that Detective Morgan's questioning

was psychologically coercive; and (4) that the nature of the questioning and the information conveyed by Detective Morgan moved the Petitioner from denying the allegations to admitting sexual misconduct. App. pp. 634-636; see also pp. 718-722. He could not, however, definitively testify that the Petitioner gave a false confession as he could never give that opinion in any case. App. p. 638, lines 8-16. With asked why he was not called as a witness at trial, Dr. Leo testified that he believed that there was an issue regarding payment of his fee for trial. App. p. 629, lines 10-17.

Defense counsel testified that he had consulted with Dr. Leo but could not call him as a witness at trial because the Petitioner and his family could not pay Dr. Leo's fee. App. p. 541, line 4-p. 542, line 2. He did, however, attempt to schedule the Petitioner's trial around Dr. Leo's availability on multiple occasions and even filed a motion for a continuance to request a date certain because "Mr. Leo's testimony is critical in order for the defendant to have a fair trial." App. p. 833.

The PCR court denied relief on this issue, concluding that

Counsel was not deficient for not calling Dr. Leo to testify, but finds Counsel's performance by consulting with him was reasonable – and more than what is required by prevailing professional norms. To find Counsel ineffective for failing to utilize a false confession expert in this case would require a different standard be applied to Counsel than that which Strickland requires. If Counsel's performance is analyzed based on a reasonable standard in light of prevailing professional norms, calling false confession experts to testify in cases where there is a confession would have to be the accepted and prevailing norm. This is not the case.

Notwithstanding, Counsel went beyond expectations by consulting with Dr. Leo, and he also had valid reasons for not further retaining him to testify. First, although Applicant could afford to retain Counsel and pay Dr. Leo \$2,500 to "consult," he and his family could not afford to hire Dr. Leo to testify. Secondly, Counsel discussed the case with Dr. Leo who advised Counsel of what he could testify to at trial. Counsel did not believe his testimony would sway the Court in the suppression hearing, or the jury in the trial. Thirdly, Dr. Leo could not testify to the ultimate conclusion that

Applicant's statements were false or coerced. Dr. Leo's testimony would criticize Detective Morgan's performance based on the indicators he saw present in the interview, rather than identify which of Applicant's statements were untrue. Lastly, Applicant never recanted to Counsel. These are legitimate concerns. This Court finds Counsel's decision was reasonable.

App. pp. 1071-1072. In the Petitioner's Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion, the Petitioner requested that the PCR court reconsider its finding on this claim and specifically requested that the PCR court "reconsider the finding that utilization of a false confession expert is not a 'professional norm.'" App. p. 1085. The PCR court denied this motion as well. App. p. 1110.

The Petitioner now contends that the PCR court's rulings on this issue were erroneous and that certiorari should be granted to review them.

B. Discussion

As a general rule, "counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." Strickland, *supra*, 446 U.S. at 691. Both this Court and the Court of Appeals have recognized that the failure to investigate and to present favorable expert witness testimony at trial constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. See McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 661 S.E.2d 354 (2008); Reeves v. State, 415 S.C. 366, 782 S.E.2d 747 (Ct. App. 2015).

The Petitioner submits that the PCR court's findings on this issue are unsupported by any probative evidence and are controlled by an error of law with regard to Strickland's performance prong. Beginning with that prong, the Petitioner contends that the PCR court was manifestly incorrect as a matter of law when it found that it could not find defense counsel deficient without also concluding that defense attorneys consult with false confession experts whenever there is a confession. "The accepted and prevailing norm," App. p. 1071, is that a defense attorney must investigate the evidence against the defendant, consult with experts when the evidence requires defense counsel to do so, and present those expert witnesses at trial if their testimony would be

favorable. See McKnight, supra; see also Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 394 (2005) (O'Connor, J., concurring) (concluding that the defense attorneys' performance was deficient for failing to investigate a matter that "would be at the very heart of the *prosecution's* case") (emphasis in original). The circumstances of most confessions, as the PCR court surely knew, do not lead themselves to the suspicion that a defendant may have given a false confession. Where, as here, however, a defendant gives a confession (1) that does not match any of the victim's allegations; (2) after he was interrogated for several hours; and (3) after being told he would be thrown to the wolves if he did not confess, then defense counsel's consultation with a false confession expert would be both prudent and necessary. Stated differently, not every case requires consultation with, and presentation of, an expert witness, but this one did. The Petitioner certainly acknowledges that defense counsel consulted with Dr. Leo. It is with the subsequent abandonment of Dr. Leo, however, where defense counsel's performance fell below professional norms. Consequently, the PCR court applied the wrong standard of review for defense counsel's conduct and should be reversed.

The PCR court gave four reasons why defense counsel was not deficient for failing to call Dr. Leo to testify at trial: (1) the Petitioner could not pay for Dr. Leo to testify; (2) defense counsel did not believe that Dr. Leo would be beneficial; (3) Dr. Leo could not testify to the ultimate conclusion that the Petitioner's statements were coerced; and (4) the Petitioner never recanted to defense counsel. See App. p. 1072. The Petitioner respectfully submits that these findings are unsupported by any probative evidence, and with regard to the first and third findings, are erroneous as a matter of law. The Petitioner will address each finding in turn.

Beginning with the payment finding, the fact that the Petitioner could not pay for Dr. Leo's testimony does not obviate defense counsel's obligation to the Petitioner. "A defendant's inability to pay for necessary experts is not a trial tactic or strategy, and cannot be used to justify defense

counsel's failure to consult with or call such experts as witnesses.” State v. Schoonmaker, 143 N.M. 373, 382, 176 P.3d 1105, 1114 (N.M. 2008); see also Ex parte Briggs, 187 S.W.3d 458, 467 (Tex. Crim. App. 2005) (“There is no suggestion that trial counsel declined to fully investigate [the victim]’s medical records because he made a strategic decision that such an investigation was unnecessary or likely to be fruitless or counterproductive. ... The decision was made because he had not been paid for experts”). In Briggs, the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals held that retained counsel is under an obligation to take steps to protect a client’s interests if the client is unable to provide funding for the expert, including, but not limited to:

If counsel was convinced that applicant could not pay for experts to assist him in preparation for trial or to provide expert testimony, [he could] withdraw from the case, explaining to the court that applicant was now indigent, prove that indigency ... and request appointment of new counsel; ... [or] [r]emain as counsel with the payment of a reduced fee, but request investigatory and expert witness fees from the trial court for a now-indigent client pursuant to Ake v. Oklahoma[, 470 U.S. 68 (1985)].

187 S.W.3d at 468 (footnotes omitted). Moreover, the South Carolina Court of Appeals has concluded, under very similar circumstances, that where a defendant is indigent and cannot pay for an expert, then “the South Carolina Office of Indigent Defense could have provided the funds needed to secure an expert witness.” Reeves, 415 S.C. at 377, 782 S.E.2d at 753 (footnote 5). It is clear that, in this case, defense counsel took no action beyond asking the Petitioner to provide the funds. His decision to not take further action cannot be described as strategic. Id. He was under an obligation to do more, and the PCR court’s failure to recognize that constitutional obligation was erroneous as a matter of law.

Turning to the finding that Dr. Leo would not have been beneficial, this conclusion is undermined both by defense counsel’s actions taken when he believed that he could utilize Dr. Leo at trial and had not yet been definitively told that the Petitioner could not pay for Dr. Leo’s testimony as well as defense counsel’s arguments at trial. Defense counsel specifically stated that

“Mr. Leo’s testimony is critical in order for the defendant to have a fair trial” in a continuance motion requesting a date certain for trial on April 13, 2009. App. p. 833. Furthermore, when the trial did not take place that week, defense counsel further requested a date certain the week of May 31, 2009, in order to accommodate Dr. Leo’s schedule. App. pp. 824-826. These are not the actions or statements of a defense attorney who believed that Dr. Leo was going to be a useless witness. Instead, they are the actions of a defense attorney who thought he was going to have funding to pay for Dr. Leo to testify and who thought that Dr. Leo was going to be a critical defense witness at trial.

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