STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAY 01 2019

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-001498

JAMES BENJAMIN IRBY,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

the counseling session. Further, Odom testified that Victim's mother did not support Victim in this matter. (App.p.282-p.285).

PCR Hearing

At the November 16-17, 2017, evidentiary hearing Petitioner presented testimony from child and family therapist Gaye Allen-Cook; his former girlfriend, Bernadette Melissa Smith; trial counsel Christopher Brough (Counsel); and false confession expert Dr. Richard Leo. (App.p.449-p.646; p.711-p.755). Petitioner also testified on his own behalf. (Tr.p.647-p.708). The State called Assistant Solicitor Jennifer Jordan and Special Agent Michael J. Prodan of SLED's behavioral sciences unit in response. (App.p.708-p.710; p.761-p.811).

Of particular note, Counsel gave detailed testimony describing the steps he took to try to keep Petitioner's "confession" from being admitted at trial, and to then to imply it was a "false confession" once it was admitted. He explained how he retained Dr. Leo as a consultant and all the reasons he ultimately elected not to offer Dr. Leo's expert testimony at trial. (App.p.541-p.544). Most critical was Counsel's explanation that the story Petitioner gave to Counsel, which was consistent with the story given to Morgan, was that on multiple occasion he sleeping nude on the couch and awoke to the Victim performing sex acts on him, *which he did not stop right away*. Counsel testified that where these "admissions" were not in fact confessions to the alleged conduct from the Victim, it would not have been fruitful to utilize Dr. Leo, particularly where he could not give an opinion the admissions were in fact false. (App.p.542). Counsel also noted the difficulty he had refuting Victim's allegations of abuse where her mother, in a recantation

from her previous story, testified about coming out of her room in the middle of the night and finding Petitioner standing in the hallway naked. (App.p.543). Counsel acknowledged the cost of Dr. Leo's additional services was a factor in his and Petitioner's decision not to use him, but Counsel emphasized that under the circumstances of the case and Petitioner's inconsistent statements, he concluded Dr. Leo would have little to no impact on swaying the trial court on the issue of voluntariness. (App.p.550-p.551). Counsel also faced an ethical dilemma in specifically pushing the narrative of a false confession where his own client had given the same story to Counsel on a separate occasion. On cross-examination Counsel described how rare it was for any defense attorney to consult with a false confession expert. (App.p.567-p.568). He also explained that while he initially considered using Dr. Leo at trial, his opinion later changed as he gathered more evidence and he chose not to call Dr. Leo as a witness at either the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing or trial. (App.p.576-p.577).

In an Order of Dismissal dated May 31, 2018, and filed June 4, 2018, Judge Cooper denied and dismissed Petitioner's PCR Application with prejudice. The PCR court addressed the individual allegations, finding each to be without merit. Ultimately, the PCR court concluded: "[Petitioner] has not established any violations that would require this Court to grant his application" and denied and dismissed the application with prejudice. (App.p.1053-p.1080). Specifically in regard to the allegation at issued in this petition for certiorarti, that Counsel did not properly utilize Dr. Richard Leo, an expert in the area of false confessions, the PCR court found as follows.

Dr. Leo testified as to the contents of his report, which was admitted into the record. Dr. Leo then testified several police interrogation tactics that increase the likelihood of eliciting false confessions were present during Petitioner's interrogation. Some of the tactics he discussed were "presumption of guilt" and "investigative bias," lengthy interrogation, fatigue and exhaustion, false evidence ploys, minimization, threats, and promises. The PCR court noted that although Dr. Leo testified that these tactics increase the likelihood of eliciting a false confession, he also conceded that they increase the likelihood of eliciting true confessions. Notably, he could not determine at what rate the likelihood for each increases or if the likelihood of eliciting a false confession is higher or lower than the likelihood of eliciting a true confession. (App.p.1069-p.1070).

The PCR court found Dr. Leo did not consider either the legal distinction or the practical distinction between confessions and statements from which guilt can be inferred, in either his decision to testify in this case or his analysis. The PCR court held the distinction noteworthy, because Petitioner never confessed to the crime he was accused of having committed. Rather, Petitioner gave statements calculated to deflect guilt while supplying Morgan information he presumably believed would justify his failing the polygraph examination. So, while Dr. Leo's report states,

Detective Alridge's (sic) and Detective Morgan's pre-polygraph and post-polygraph interrogation of James Irby were guilt-presumptive, accusatory, and theory-driven rather than evidence driven. The interrogations were not structured to find the truth but, instead, to intentionally incriminate Mr. Irby **by pressuring and persuading him to repeat back the alleged victim's allegations**, which Detective Alridge (sic) and Morgan assumed must be true but never sought to independently verify with actual evidence[.]

Petitioner never did repeat back the victim's allegations – far from it. (App.p.1043-p.1044) (emphasis added). The victim alleged Petitioner digitally penetrated her and vaginally raped her in her bedroom. Notwithstanding the fact Petitioner vehemently and repetitively denied digitally penetrating the victim eight times in four separate points of the interrogation, demonstrating his control and in-tact will, Petitioner told Morgan the twelve year-old victim had been coming onto him for a while (following him into the bathroom with no top, walking around with no panties making sure he would see her, asking him if he wanted to “smell her cookies,” and telling him she had smelled his underwear), that he woke up while sleeping to find her performing fellatio on him once and another time he awoke to find her straddling him with her vagina on his hard penis, and that both times he immediately stopped and chastised her. The PCR court noted this is hardly a confession in the practical sense or the legal sense – for in those versions, no crime has been committed. Furthermore, Petitioner never once made an acknowledgment of guilt, rather he consistently projected blame on the twelve year-old girl allegedly instigating sexual contact with a grown man, and her mother's husband nevertheless. (App.p.1070).

The PCR court found Dr. Leo's testimony was simply a criticism of interrogation tactics used to elicit confessions. The PCR court then recounted the expert testimony offered by the State to rebut Dr. Leo's criticisms of police interrogations. Captain Michael Prodan testified that all of the tactics criticized by Dr. Leo have been practiced, studied, analyzed, and perfected over many, many years. Without such tactics, law enforcement would be left simply “interviewing” (as opposed to “interrogating”) suspects in the hopes they would spontaneously confess without any sort of technique or tactic applied to encourage confessions. The PCR court concluded this was a dangerous proposition, especially in cases in which there is no forensic evidence (as is

often the case in sexual abuse cases, a crime predominantly committed in private). It noted that without confessions from the prime suspects, many sex offenders would go unpunished and free to continue their deviant, criminal behavior. The PCR court further noted that our criminal justice system offers ample protections for those instances of police misconduct during interrogations, without the need for expert testimony. (App.p.1071).

The PCR court found not only that Counsel was not deficient for not calling Dr. Leo to testify, but that Counsel's performance, by even consulting with him, went above and beyond what was reasonable – and certainly more than what is required by prevailing professional norms. The PCR Court held that to find Counsel ineffective for failing to utilize a false confession expert in this case would require a different standard be applied to Counsel than that which *Strickland* requires. If Counsel's performance is analyzed based on a reasonable standard in light of prevailing professional norms, then calling false confession experts to testify in cases where there is a confession would have to be the accepted and prevailing norm. The PCR court concluded this is simply not the case and if it were, it would be cause for concern for the entire defense bar. The PCR court found that not only is it not the *prevailing* professional norm, but our appellate courts have not even decided the issue of whether or not this type of expert testimony is admissible in a criminal jury trial. (App.p.1071).

The PCR court went on to find that, notwithstanding its finding that Counsel went above and beyond expectations by consulting with Dr. Leo, he also had valid strategic reasons for not further retaining him to testify. The court found Counsel had a valid strategy for four reasons. First, although Petitioner could afford to retain Counsel and pay Dr. Leo \$2,500 to "consult," he and his family could not afford to hire Dr. Leo to testify. Secondly, Counsel discussed the case

with Dr. Leo who advised Counsel of what he could testify to at trial. Counsel did not believe his testimony would sway that court in the suppression hearing or the jury in the trial. Thirdly, Dr. Leo could not testify to the ultimate conclusion that Petitioner's statements were false or coerced. Dr. Leo's testimony would criticize Morgan's performance based on the indicators he saw present in the interview, rather than identify which of Petitioner's statements were untrue. Lastly, Petitioner never even recanted to Counsel and therefore, the whole notion of Dr. Leo's testimony would be a farce. The PCR court concluded these were all legitimate concerns and that as a result, Counsel's decision was reasonable, even in hindsight. (App.p.1071-p.1072).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in post-conviction relief cases depends on the specific issue before the reviewing court. It will defer to a post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them; but will review questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-40 (2018).

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief on grounds that Petitioner failed to carry his burden of proving trial counsel was ineffective for failing to utilize the services of a false confession expert at trial because Counsel articulated valid strategic reasons not to do so and because the evidence presented from the alleged expert at the PCR hearing failed to demonstrate prejudice.

Petitioner asserts Counsel provided ineffective assistance for failing to utilize the services of a false confession expert, with whom defense counsel had consulted, at trial. He claims "the PCR court's rulings on this issue are erroneous, not supported by any probative evidence and are

controlled by an error of law with regard to *Strickland*'s prejudice prong. (Petition, p.9-p.10).

The State disagrees and submits Petitioner's argument is entirely without merit. Despite Petitioner's attempts to isolate each of the four reasons the PCR court found Counsel employed a valid trial strategy, Counsel's decision and the reasons therefore much be considered as a whole in the context of the entire record. This is a relatively straightforward case based upon this Court's standard of review. The PCR court's detailed ruling addressing the relevant allegation is supported by ample probative evidence in the record and therefore, certiorari should be denied.

In a post-conviction relief action, the Applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; *Caprood v. State*, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). When an Applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. The proper measure of performance is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. "There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case." *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). An Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624. Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular

act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. In assessing counsel's performance, counsel's decisions must be evaluated at the time in which they were made and "every effort [must] be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. Accordingly, courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel's tactics. *Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992).

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the Applicant must prove counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing *Strickland*). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Therefore, the function of the post-conviction relief court is to determine if "in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside *the wide range* of professional competent assistance" required of a criminal defense attorney." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668. 690 (emphasis added).

Here, the PCR court reviewed the testimony and evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing and weighed the evidence accordingly. (App.p.1068). It concluded Petitioner had failed to meet his burden of proving Counsel was ineffective for failing to call an expert witness in false confessions. This conclusion was based primarily on the finding that: "Counsel went beyond expectations by consulting with Dr. Leo, and he also had valid reasons for not further retaining him to testify." (App.p.1072). The PCR court's findings of fact and conclusions of law are supported by evidence in the record. In light of the circumstances of the case, Counsel's

decision not to utilize the services of Dr. Leo was within the wide range of professionally competent assistance required of a criminal defense attorney. Counsel strategically chose to not to use Dr. Leo as an expert at trial. This strategy must be considered in the context of Petitioner admitting he allowed the twelve-year-old victim to continue performing sex acts on him when he woke up. Simply because the strategic choice did not result in acquittal does not warrant either the PCR court or this Court second guessing Counsel's tactics through the distorting lens of hindsight. Because Counsel articulated a valid strategic reason for his advice, his performance was properly found not to be ineffective. Further, Dr. Leo's report and testimony did not support a finding of prejudice. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof in this PCR action, his application was properly denied and dismissed with prejudice, and certiorari should be denied.